
   

 
Notice of a public 
 

Decision Session - Executive Member for Housing and Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

 
To: Councillor Craghill (Executive Member) 

 
Date: Thursday, 16 March 2023 

 
Time: 10.00 am 

 
Venue: The Thornton Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G039) 

 
AGENDA 

 

Notice to Members – Post Decision Calling In: 
  
Members are reminded that, should they wish to call in any item* on 
this agenda, notice must be given to Democracy Support Group by 
4:00 pm on Monday 20 March 2023. 
  
*With the exception of matters that have been the subject of a 
previous call in, require Full Council approval or are urgent which are 
not subject to the call-in provisions. Any called in items will be 
considered by the Customer and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 

 

Written representations in respect of items on this agenda should be 
submitted to Democratic Services by 5.00pm on Tuesday 14 March 
2023. 

 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, the Executive Member is asked to 

declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other registerable 
interests she might have in respect of business on this agenda, if 
she has not already done so in advance on the Register of 
Interests. 
 



 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 9 

February 2023. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may speak 
on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the committee. 
 
Please note that our registration deadlines are set as 2 working 
days before the meeting, in order to facilitate the management of 
public participation at our meetings.  The deadline for registering 
at this meeting is 5:00pm on Tuesday 14 March 2023. 
 
To register to speak please visit 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill in an online 
registration form.  If you have any questions about the 
registration form or the meeting, please contact Democratic 
Services.  Contact details can be found at the foot of this agenda. 
 
Webcasting of Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be webcast including any registered public speakers who have 
given their permission. The meeting can be viewed live and on 
demand at http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts.  
 
During coronavirus, we made some changes to how we ran 
council meetings, including facilitating remote participation by 
public speakers. See our updates 
(http://www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy) for more information 
on meetings and decisions. 
 

4. Update on retrofit programme including Home 
Upgrade Grant Phase 2 (HUG2) bid   
 
This report provides a progress to date on delivering 
retrofit works and provides clarity on the next steps to 
enable projects to be delivered in York within the 
timescale of the programme. 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

http://www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy


 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Executive Member considers 

urgent under the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officer: 
Louise Cook  
Contact details:  

 Telephone – (01904) 551031 

 Email louise.cook@york.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 

 
 

mailto:louise.cook@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Decision Session - Executive Member for 
Housing and Safer Neighbourhoods 

Date 9 February 2023 

Present Councillor Craghill (Executive Member) 

In Attendance Tracey Carter, Director of Housing, Economy 
and Regeneration 
Denis Southall, Head of Housing Management 
Services 

 

 

9. Declarations of Interest (10:00 am)  
 

The Executive Member was asked to declare at this point in the 
meeting any disclosable pecuniary interests or registerable 
interests that she might have in the business on the agenda, if 
she had not already done so in advance on the Register of 
Interests. None were declared.  

 
10. Minutes (10:01 am)  
 

Resolved: That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 
20 October 2022 be approved and signed as a 
correct record by the Executive Member. 

 
11. Public Participation (10:02 am)  
 

It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 

 
12. Update on the Resettlement Pathway (10:02 am)  
 

The Executive Member considered a report that provided an 
update on work in progress to review the single homeless 
resettlement pathway which was developing the early 
intervention and intensive support approach for single people 
who became homeless or were rough sleeping. 

 
The Director of Housing, Economy and Regeneration and the 
Head of Housing Management Services set out the review 
findings, gave an update on external funding secured to support 
homelessness and rough sleeping initiatives, and presented an 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



update on existing service delivery arrangements and their 
outcomes. 
 
Officers explained that the homeless resettlement pathway 
supported people back into settled housing, and that the latest 
contract review had indicated the need for a more intensive and 
personal intervention support approach. They confirmed that 
the additional monies received had allowed the council to 
develop, in consultation with the Department of Levelling Up 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC), additional services, 
including the Navigator model, which was tailored to individual 
needs and was more effective with people who were unwilling 
or unable to engage.  
 
The Head of Housing Management Services also confirmed 
that: 

 rough sleeping numbers fluctuated daily and 
were currently below 9, which was last officially 
recorded in November 2022.  

 they met fortnightly with the Salvation Army to 
discuss the management and extension of their 
contract. 

 the Salvation Army’s Nap Pad facility was still 
available to house more complex individuals.  

 meetings had been arranged with adults 
commissioning to discuss the resettlement 
review and specialist accommodation and 
support. 

 
The Executive Member noted the range of services and 
housing models available to support homeless people, and that 
the resettlement pathway supported single homeless people 
rather than families. Officers confirmed that the Homeless 
Reduction Act 2017 required the council to deal with 
homelessness in a very structured way and the response had 
been to develop the existing pathways, which included James 
House for families who found themselves homeless. 
 
The Executive Member confirmed that she had attended the 
resettlement review workshops and she welcomed close 
partnership working to prevent people from circulating from 
rough sleeping into accommodation and then back onto the 
streets again. 
 

Page 2



The Executive Member noted that the review was building on 
approaches in York that had already been successful, and she 
also noted the importance to maximise the effectiveness of the 
resources available to respond to the current cost of living 
pressures and she  
 
Resolved:  
 

i) That the ongoing review of the Resettlement pathway 
and the interim contractual arrangements that had been 
put in place to continue the existing service until the 
pathway review was concluded and a future delivery 
model was agreed, be noted. 
 

ii) That the first phase of the review findings be 
implemented and that a waiver be sought to the 
financial and procurement rules to extend the contract 
for the Early Intervention & Prevention Service for 6 
months to allow for the phased implementation of 
changes to the Early Intervention and Prevention 
services.  

 
iii) That the review of the resettlement pathway be 

concluded and a report setting out the new delivery 
model and the transition into new delivery arrangements 
be brought back to Executive. 
 

Reason: To ensure ongoing service resilience and the delivery 
of early improvements during the next phase of the 
review of the delivery model for homelessness 
resettlement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr Craghill, Executive Member 
[The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 10.18 am]. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 

 

  
 

   

 
Decision Session – Executive Member for 
Housing and Safer Neighbourhoods 
 

16 March 2023 

Report of the Director of Housing, Economy and Regeneration  
 

Update on retrofit programme including Home Upgrade Grant Phase 2 
(HUG2) bid 
 
Summary 

 
1. Since Executive approval in December 2020, which established a Home 

Energy Efficiency Programme, the council has delivered retrofit projects 
on a significant scale across all tenures. Through existing projects, the 
programme expects to deliver over 500 improvement measures to 
around 250 homes across all tenures. The majority of these works are 
wholly or partially funded through central government funding which was 
successfully secured in 2021/22. These retrofit works are delivered to a 
high standard under the exacting PAS2035 quality framework, adding 
complexity and robustness to the improvement works. 
 

2. The domestic energy efficiency challenge is significant and there is a 
need to continue to accelerate retrofit works into next year. To support 
this ambition a further grant application for retrofit works has been 
submitted, this time under the government’s HUG2 programme.  
 

3. If successful, the scheme would provide 100% funding including the 
council’s project delivery resource. The programme requirements are for 
all properties to be heated by non-gas means with an Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC) Band D or below. In addition, there is a 
‘low income’ criteria for either the household or, for this programme, 
eligible low-income neighbourhood areas. The programme is expected to 
run for two-years. 
 

4. This would contribute to the priorities of the Retrofit Action Plan adopted 
by the Council’s Executive in December 2022, by delivering domestic 
decarbonisation and energy bill reduction measures to households at 
high risk of fuel poverty. Other work underway following the Retrofit 
Action Plan includes the establishment of the York Energy Advice 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

service for all households using the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, support 
for the Energy Company Obligation 4 (ECO4) programme to achieve 
maximum delivery in the City, and the council housing retrofit programme 
for 2023-24 and beyond. 
 

5. The formal outcome of the grant application is expected imminently. 
However, to allow activity to continue, this report seeks to provide clarity 
on the next steps to enable projects to be delivered in York within the 
timescale of the programme.  

 
Recommendations 

 
6. The Executive Member is asked to:  

 
(i)      Note the progress to date on delivering retrofit works following the 

success of attracting grant funding to support cross tenure 
improvement works. 
 

(ii)     Note that upon successful notification of the grant, that the 
Memorandum of Understanding will be signed to enable the 
commencement of procurement activity and more specific site 
analysis works.  

 
(iii) Note that prior to the signing of a delivery contract following a 

procurement exercise, that a report will be provided to Executive 
seeking approval to sign the delivery contract and commence works.  

 
Reason: To deliver the council’s ambitions for minimising vulnerable 
residents’ energy bills, supporting health and wellbeing, building the 
local green economy and retrofit supply chains, and reducing carbon 
emissions in the city. 

 
Background 
 
7. Household energy bills have increased substantially since 2021, with a 

typical bill likely to have doubled over this period. This is taking into 
account the central government Energy Price Guarantee announcement, 
or the increases would have been greater still1. These costs have 
significantly raised the number of households experiencing fuel poverty. 
Alongside the challenge for residents to keep their homes warm, the 
council has set an ambition for the city to be carbon neutral by 2030 to 

                                            
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-energy-price-guarantee-for-families-and-
businesses-while-urgently-taking-action-to-reform-broken-energy-market  

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-energy-price-guarantee-for-families-and-businesses-while-urgently-taking-action-to-reform-broken-energy-market
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-energy-price-guarantee-for-families-and-businesses-while-urgently-taking-action-to-reform-broken-energy-market


 

support the response to the climate emergency. These two challenges 
bring into sharp focus the need to undertake significant retrofit 
improvements to housing in the city.  
 

8. A Retrofit Action Plan was approved by the Council’s Executive in 
December 2022, setting out plans for decarbonising homes in York and 
tackling fuel poverty across all tenures. This Plan builds on the Climate 
Change Strategy, identifying clear actions required in the residential sector 
to meet these aspirations. Amongst the key priorities identified are to 
“Maximise delivery of future government programmes” in the private sector 
to tackle fuel poverty and accelerate the expansion of retrofit skills in the 
sector.  

 
9. The council has been highly successful in attracting grant funding in-order 

to accelerate retrofit works across private rented, homeowner and social 
housing tenures. This work has directly supported residents in fuel poverty 
by significantly improving the energy performance of their home.      

 
Progress in delivering Retrofit works 
 

10. Central government funded retrofit works are required to be undertaken 
utilising an exacting PAS2035 design and assurance standard. These 
works are delivered by a relatively immature retrofit market at a time of 
significant cost inflation. Alongside the supply chain skills shortage, the 
council has needed to develop expertise in this field to support the 
delivery of these works. This has created significant challenges in 
delivering retrofit works at scale within the very short timescales which are 
associated with these government grant funding programmes. 

 
11. Despite these challenges the council has made significant progress in 

delivering retrofit works to date. In respect of works to council homes, 
Local Authority Delivery 2 (LAD2) and Social Housing Decarbonisation 
Fund Wave 1 (SHDF W1) grant funding has been secured. Utilising 
LAD2 funding, 45 council homes have been improved through the 
installation of solar PV. Top up loft insulation to 300mm was also 
provided for all properties where needed. These works have reduced 
residents’ fuel bills, improved the thermal performance of the homes, and 
reduced carbon emissions, taking these 45 homes from an Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC) D rating, to a C rating or higher.    

 
12. In the private sector, retrofit works are being delivered utilising grant 

funding secured through LAD1B, LAD2, LAD3, and Home Upgrade 
Grant 1 (HUG1). To date, over 200 improvement measures have been 

Page 7

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s164357/Annex%20A%20-%20Retrofit%20Action%20Plan.pdf


 

installed for homes in the private sector. Measures include room in roof 
insulation, cavity wall insulation, and Solar PV and Air Source Heat 
Pump installation. All of these works have been entirely funded utilising 
central government grant to qualifying low-income households. 

 
13. Once complete, this will bring the number of retrofit works delivered to 

590. However, as noted above these programmes also include 
challenges which have resulted in delivery delays across the country and 
York is no exception in this regard. Accordingly, the Department for 
Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) has initiated a ‘Managed 
Closure’ process, and as part of this the council is in dialogue around a 
planned extension to ensure maximum benefit from these grant 
programmes.  
 
HUG2 bid 
 

14. The council has submitted a grant application for this new programme, 
which provides funding for works which is expected to operate until 
March 2025.   
 

15. The funding announcement is expected imminently and it is hoped that a 
verbal update can be provided at the meeting in this regard. Should the 
council be successful with its grant application a Memorandum of 
Understanding would be signed. This would secure the grant funding, 
which includes capital funding to deliver the works and revenue funding 
to provide staffing resource to enable the project delivery.  
 

16. Should the application be successful the mix of properties which would 
be targeted for works include: 

 

 Fabric measures and heating upgrades to off-gas rural properties; 

 Heating upgrades to apartments in blocks with all electric heating, 
these are likely to be predominantly in the city centre; and 

 Fabric measures and heating upgrades to properties with old non-gas 
heating (e.g. storage heaters) these could be distributed throughout 
the city. 

 
Consultation  
 

17. Consultation has been undertaken with external stakeholders, Council 
Members and officers at various stages during 2021-22 on key priorities 

Page 8



 

identified within the draft Retrofit Action Plan, which informs the 
recommendations of this report.  

 
Council Plan 

 
18. Retrofit delivery and an action plan aligns with a number of key 

objectives within the Council Plan:  
 
Well-paid jobs and an inclusive economy – Retrofit of existing 
homes requires a skilled workforce and is labour intensive by the nature 
of the work involved. People working in the construction industry are 
typically paid above the national average. Utilising central government 
grant funding to deliver works creates opportunities for work with the 
supply chain to create opportunities for further training and skills 
development locally.   
 
A greener and cleaner city – Our housing stock is a major source of 
carbon emissions. Retrofit improves the thermal performance of existing 
dwellings, reduces heating demand and thus reduces the amount of 
gas/electricity required to heat a dwelling.  
 

Good health and wellbeing – Exposure of residents to excess cold 
exacerbates a range of health conditions and contributes to increased 
hospital admissions during the winter months. The elderly are 
particularly at risk from excess cold. Retrofitting homes will make 
tangible improvements to the energy performance of dwellings thereby 
reducing incidents of excess cold and associated ill health. 

 
19. Implications – Responses from colleagues for relevant aspects are 

included below. 
 

 Procurement – Any proposed works and services will need to be 
commissioned via a compliant procurement process under the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 and the council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules. The Commercial Procurement team will need to be consulted 
alongside Legal Services, and the Insurance team so appropriate 
documents, contracts and processes can be completed. A 
procurement strategy will be completed to determine the best route 
to market and to ensure the council is achieving value for money 
whilst delivering the contract.  
 

 Financial – The HUG2 grant is for properties in the private sector, 
30% of funds would be awarded as an upfront payment, split 

Page 9



 

between a 20% mobilisation payment and a 10% deposit payment at 
the start of each financial year and the remainder of the grant 
awarded as part of a batch application process.  Administration and 
ancillary costs can be claimed by CYC and the contractor up to a 
maximum combined value of £190K.  CYC internal resources costs 
are to be contained within this value. 

 
 Human Resources (HR) – There are no HR implications to this 

report. 
 

 Equalities – The Council is mindful of the Public Sector Equality Duty 
under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 
other prohibited conduct; advance equality of opportunity between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it and foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it in the exercise of a public authority’s functions).  An equalities 
impact assessment was completed when this programme was 
launched and approved by Executive in December 2020. There is no 
adverse impact expected in terms of equalities. 

 
 Legal – Legal Services will carry out a review of any proposed grant 

funding arrangements and in respect of the UK Subsidy Control 
Rules (previously State aid) to confirm whether any mitigating 
actions need to be taken prior to entering into the arrangements.  
Legal Services have provided advice to the Housing Energy 
Efficiency team throughout the project. 
 

 Crime and Disorder – There are no Crime and Disorder implications.  
 

 Information Technology (IT) – There are no IT implications. 
  

 Property – There are no Property implications. 
 

Risk Management 
 

20. Retrofit works are complex. They require careful design and 
implementation in order to ensure home improvements in the long term. 
Detailed engagement is taking place at all stages of the development of 
the Retrofit Action Plan which informs these programmes alongside 
consideration of emerging good practice and the experience of other 
authorities. All risks are monitored through project risk registers for each 

Page 10



 

programme of works with governance in place to ensure these risks are 
continually reviewed and appropriate decisions are made in response.  

 
21. Legal advice will be taken before entering into any Memorandum of 

Understanding. This programme of works would be delivered entirely 
using central government grant, both revenue and capital costs would be 
covered by the grant. However, failure to deliver the works could result in 
the repayment of any grant received. 

 
Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 

Michael Jones 
Head of Housing Delivery and 
Asset Management 
michael.jones@york.gov.uk 
 
Andrew Bebbington 
Housing Policy Officer 
andrew.bebbington@york.gov.uk  

Chief Officer’s name  
Tracey Carter 
Director of Housing, Economy and Regeneration 

Report 
Approved 

 
Date 
06/03/23 

 

 
 
    

Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
 
Financial:                     Legal:   
Richard Fairclough                         Cathryn Moore 
Accountant                                     Corporate Business Partner (Legal) 
richard.fairclough@york.gov.uk      cathryn.Moore@york.gov.uk  
 
Procurement:  
Chloe Wilcox 
Head of Procurement 
chloe.wilcox@york.gov.uk  

 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 

 Council Housing Energy Retrofit Programme – December 2020 – 
Executive  

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=733&MId=12
428&Ver=4  

Page 11

mailto:michael.jones@york.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.bebbington@york.gov.uk
mailto:richard.fairclough@york.gov.uk
mailto:cathryn.Moore@york.gov.uk
mailto:chloe.wilcox@york.gov.uk
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=733&MId=12428&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=733&MId=12428&Ver=4


 

  Update on the Housing Energy Retrofit Programme – March 2021 – 
Decision Session: Executive Member for Housing and Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=12
599&Ver=4 

  Update on the Housing Energy Efficiency Programme and Grant 
Application for the Sustainable Warmth Competition – August 2021 -
Decision Session: Executive Member for Housing and Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=13
137&Ver=4  

 Housing Energy Efficiency Programme Update - Utilising Grant Funding 
to Deliver Additional Retrofit Works – December 2021 – Executive 

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=733&MId=12
798&Ver=4 

 Update on the Housing Energy Retrofit Programme – March 2022 – 
Decision Session: Executive Member for Housing and Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=12
750&Ver=4  

 Update on the Housing Energy Retrofit Programme – July 2022 – 
Decision Session: Executive Member for Housing and Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=13
536&Ver=4 

 
Annexes – None 
 
Abbreviations:  
HUG1: Home Upgrade Grant Phase 1 
HUG2: Home Upgrade Grant Phase 2 
LAD: Local Authority Delivery  
SHDF: Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund  
 
 

Page 12

https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=12599&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=12599&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=13137&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=13137&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=733&MId=12798&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=733&MId=12798&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=12750&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=12750&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=13536&Ver=4
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=932&MId=13536&Ver=4

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Update on retrofit programme including Home Upgrade Grant Phase 2 (HUG2) bid

